Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling

CTSM 2.3 -User's Guide

Niels Rode Kristensen, Henrik Madsen

December 10, 2003

Technical University of Denmark

Copyright © Niels Rode Kristensen, Henrik Madsen, December 10, 2003

Contents

1	Intr	oducti	ion	1
2	Get	ting st	tarted	3
	2.1	Featur	res of CTSM	3
		2.1.1	Model structures	3
		2.1.2	Parameter estimation methods	4
		2.1.3	Data issues	7
		2.1.4	Statistical tests	7
		2.1.5	Residual analysis	7
	2.2	Install	ling \mathbf{CTSM}	8
		2.2.1	Downloading CTSM	8
		2.2.2	Installing \mathbf{CTSM} on Linux platforms $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	8
		2.2.3	Installing \mathbf{CTSM} on Solaris platforms	9
		2.2.4	Installing \mathbf{CTSM} on Windows platforms $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	9
3	Usi	ng CT	SM	11
	3.1	Starti	ng up CTSM	11
		3.1.1	Starting up CTSM on Linux platforms	11
		3.1.2	Starting up CTSM on Solaris platforms	11
		3.1.3	Starting up CTSM on Windows platforms	11
	3.2	Settin	g up a model	12
		3.2.1	Creating a new model	12
		3.2.2	Typing in the model equations	13
		3.2.3	Analyzing the model equations	15
	3.3	Estim	ating parameters	16
		3.3.1	Specifying estimation method	16
		3.3.2	Specifying estimation data	18
		3.3.3	Monitoring computation progress	19
		3.3.4	Interpreting estimation results	19
		3.3.5	Printing estimation results	21

		3.3.6	Exporting estimation results	21
		3.3.7	Deleting estimation results	22
	3.4	Gener	ating validation data	22
		3.4.1	Generating pure simulation data	23
		3.4.2	Generating prediction data	24
		3.4.3	Generating filtering data	24
		3.4.4	Generating smoothing data	25
	3.5	Chang	ging the settings for a model	25
		3.5.1	Changing filter settings	25
		3.5.2	Changing optimisation settings	27
		3.5.3	Changing advanced settings	28
	3.6	Modif	ying the structure of a model	28
	3.7	Saving	g and opening a model	29
4	\mathbf{Tip}	s and t	tricks	31
	4.1	Tips f	or making the estimation run smoothly	31
		4.1.1	Scaling of variables	31
		4.1.2	Selecting appropriate parameter values	31
		4.1.3	Data issues	32
	4.2	Variou	is tricks and workarounds	32
		4.2.1	A general trick for modelling thresholds	32
		4.2.2	Tricks for modelling pulses and steps in inputs \ldots .	33
5	Tro	ublesh	ooting	35
	5.1	Comm	non error messages	35
		5.1.1	GUI input errors	35
		5.1.2	Computational errors	35
		5.1.3	Exceptions	37
	5.2	Freque	ently asked questions	37

Appendices

Α	Exa	mple: LTI model of the heat dynamics of a wall	41
	A.1	Model equations	41

	A.2	Setting	g up the model	42
		A.2.1	Creating a new model	42
		A.2.2	Typing in the model equations	42
		A.2.3	Analyzing the model equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	42
	A.3	Estima	ating parameters	44
		A.3.1	Specifying estimation method	44
		A.3.2	Specifying estimation data	44
		A.3.3	Monitoring computation progress	46
		A.3.4	Interpreting estimation results	46
	A.4	Genera	ating validation data	46
		A.4.1	Generating pure simulation data	47
		A.4.2	Generating prediction data	47
		A.4.3	Generating filtering data	47
	A.5	Saving	the model \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	48
в	Exa	mple:	NL model of a fed-batch bioreactor	49
	B.1	Model	equations	49
	В.1 В.2	Model Setting	equations	49 50
	B.1 B.2	Model Setting B.2.1	equations	49 50 50
	B.1 B.2	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2	equations	49 50 50 50
	B.1 B.2	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3	equations	49 50 50 50 52
	B.1 B.2 B.3	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima	equations	 49 50 50 50 52 52
	B.1 B.2 B.3	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1	equations	 49 50 50 50 52 52 52
	B.1 B.2 B.3	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2	equations	 49 50 50 50 52 52 52 53
	B.1 B.2 B.3	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 53 54
	B.1 B.2 B.3	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 53 54 54
	B.1B.2B.3B.4	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4 Genera	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 52 53 54 54
	B.1B.2B.3B.4	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4 Genera B.4.1	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 53 54 54 54 55
	B.1B.2B.3B.4	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4 Genera B.4.1 B.4.2	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 53 54 54 54 55 55
	B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4 Genera B.4.1 B.4.2 B.4.3	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 53 54 54 54 55 55
	B.1B.2B.3B.4	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4 Genera B.4.1 B.4.2 B.4.3 B.4.4	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 53 54 54 55 55 56
	 B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4 B.5 	Model Setting B.2.1 B.2.2 B.2.3 Estima B.3.1 B.3.2 B.3.3 B.3.4 Genera B.4.1 B.4.2 B.4.3 B.4.4 Saving	equations	 49 50 50 52 52 52 53 54 54 55 55 56 56

References

 $\mathbf{57}$

Introduction

CTSM is a computer program for performing Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling. The program has been developed at Informatics and Mathematical Modelling (IMM) at the Technical University of Denmark (DTU).



Continuous time stochastic modelling means semi-physical modelling of dynamic systems based on stochastic differential equations. Stochastic differential equations contain a diffusion term to account for random effects, but are otherwise structurally similar to ordinary differential equations. Therefore conventional modelling principles can be applied to set up the model structure.

With the model structure given, the program provides methods for estimating any unknown parameters of the model from data, including the parameters of the diffusion term. These methods are able to handle both linear and nonlinear models, and the program also provides flexibility with respect to the data sets that can be used for estimation. The parameter estimation methods implemented in the program are a *maximum likelihood* (ML) method and a *maximum a posteriori* (MAP) method. Both methods allow several independent data sets to be used. Once the parameters have been estimated, various statistical methods can be applied to investigate the quality of the model, and features that facilitate application of such methods are also included in the program. **CTSM** and the original program on which it is based, CTLSM (Madsen and Melgaard, 1991; Melgaard and Madsen, 1993), has been successfully applied for modelling a variety of systems, including building heat dynamics (Madsen and Holst, 1995), environmental systems (Jacobsen and Madsen, 1996), fed-batch processes within chemical and biotechnological industry (Kristensen, 2002) and pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic systems (Tornøe, 2002).

This manual is meant to give a short introduction to the ideas behind and the use of **CTSM**. Chapter 2 gives a brief mathematical description of the features in the program and provides instructions for installing it, Chapter 3 contains a step-by-step guide to using the program, Chapter 4 provides some basic tips and tricks, and in chapter 5 some hints for advanced troubleshooting are given.

Appendix A and B contain tutorial examples illustrating the procedure for parameter estimation for a linear and a nonlinear model respectively.

Getting started

This chapter gives a brief mathematical description of the features in **CTSM** and provides instructions for downloading and installing the program.

A complete description of the mathematics behind the algorithms of the program can be found in the Mathematics Guide.

2.1 Features of CTSM

CTSM provides features for performing *maximum likelihood* (ML) and *maximum a posteriori* (MAP) estimation of the unknown parameters of continuousdiscrete stochastic state space models. Continuous-discrete stochastic state space models are models that consist of a set of stochastic differential equations describing the dynamics of a system in continuous time and a set of algebraic equations describing how measurements are obtained at discrete time instants. Several independent data sets can be used for the estimation, and the program also provides features for dealing with varying sample times, occasional outliers and missing observations. In addition, the program provides features for performing statistical tests and for facilitating residual analysis.

2.1.1 Model structures

Within **CTSM** the class of continuous-discrete stochastic state space models is divided into three distinct subclasses, which are handled separately.

The class of nonlinear (NL) models

The class of NL models is the class of models described by the equations:

$$d\boldsymbol{x}_t = \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}_t, \boldsymbol{u}_t, t, \boldsymbol{\theta}) dt + \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_t, t, \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\omega}_t$$
(2.1)

$$\boldsymbol{y}_k = \boldsymbol{h}(\boldsymbol{x}_k, \boldsymbol{u}_k, t_k, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + \boldsymbol{e}_k \tag{2.2}$$

where $t \in \mathbb{R}$ is time, $\boldsymbol{x}_t \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a vector of state variables, $\boldsymbol{u}_t \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is a vector of input variables, $\boldsymbol{y}_k \in \mathbb{R}^l$ is a vector of output variables, $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}^p$ is a vector

of parameters, $f(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\sigma(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ and $h(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^l$ are nonlinear functions, $\{\omega_t\}$ is an *n*-dimensional standard Wiener process and $\{e_k\}$ is an *l*-dimensional white noise process with $e_k \in N(\mathbf{0}, S(u_k, t_k, \theta))$.

The class of linear time-varying (LTV) models

The class of LTV models is the class of models described by the equations:

$$d\boldsymbol{x}_t = (\boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{x}_t, \boldsymbol{u}_t, t, \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{x}_t + \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{x}_t, \boldsymbol{u}_t, t, \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{u}_t) dt + \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{u}_t, t, \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\omega}_t$$
(2.3)

$$\boldsymbol{y}_{k} = \boldsymbol{C}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}, \boldsymbol{u}_{k}, t_{k}, \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{x}_{k} + \boldsymbol{D}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}, \boldsymbol{u}_{k}, t_{k}, \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{u}_{k} + \boldsymbol{e}_{k}$$
(2.4)

where $t \in \mathbb{R}$ is time, $\boldsymbol{x}_t \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a state vector, $\boldsymbol{u}_t \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is an input vector, $\boldsymbol{y}_k \in \mathbb{R}^l$ is an output vector, $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}^p$ is a parameter vector, $\boldsymbol{A}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, $\boldsymbol{B}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, $\boldsymbol{C}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{l \times n}$ and $\boldsymbol{D}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{l \times m}$ are nonlinear functions, $\{\boldsymbol{\omega}_t\}$ is an *n*-dimensional standard Wiener process and $\{\boldsymbol{e}_k\}$ is an *l*-dimensional white noise process with $\boldsymbol{e}_k \in N(\boldsymbol{0}, \boldsymbol{S}(\boldsymbol{u}_k, t_k, \boldsymbol{\theta}))$.

The class of linear time invariant (LTI) models

The class of LTI models is the class of models described by the equations:

$$d\boldsymbol{x}_t = (\boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{x}_t + \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{u}_t) dt + \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\theta})d\boldsymbol{\omega}_t$$
(2.5)

$$\boldsymbol{y}_k = \boldsymbol{C}(\boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{x}_k + \boldsymbol{D}(\boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{u}_k + \boldsymbol{e}_k \tag{2.6}$$

where $t \in \mathbb{R}$ is time, $\boldsymbol{x}_t \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a state vector, $\boldsymbol{u}_t \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is an input vector, $\boldsymbol{y}_k \in \mathbb{R}^l$ is an output vector, $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}^p$ is a parameter vector, $\boldsymbol{A}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, $\boldsymbol{B}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, $\boldsymbol{C}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{l \times n}$ and $\boldsymbol{D}(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^{l \times m}$ are nonlinear functions, $\{\boldsymbol{\omega}_t\}$ is an *n*-dimensional standard Wiener process and $\{\boldsymbol{e}_k\}$ is an *l*-dimensional white noise process with $\boldsymbol{e}_k \in N(\boldsymbol{0}, \boldsymbol{S}(\boldsymbol{\theta}))$.

2.1.2 Parameter estimation methods

CTSM allows a number of different parameter estimation setups to be used.

Maximum likelihood estimation

Given a particular model structure, maximum likelihood (ML) estimation of the unknown parameters can be performed by finding the parameters $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ that maximize the likelihood function of a sequence of measurements $\boldsymbol{y}_0, \boldsymbol{y}_1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{y}_k, \ldots, \boldsymbol{y}_N$ of the output variables. By introducing the notation:

$$\mathcal{Y}_k = [\boldsymbol{y}_k, \boldsymbol{y}_{k-1}, \dots, \boldsymbol{y}_1, \boldsymbol{y}_0]$$
(2.7)

the likelihood function is the joint probability density:

$$L(\boldsymbol{\theta}; \mathcal{Y}_N) = p(\mathcal{Y}_N | \boldsymbol{\theta}) \tag{2.8}$$

or equivalently:

$$L(\boldsymbol{\theta}; \mathcal{Y}_N) = \left(\prod_{k=1}^N p(\boldsymbol{y}_k | \mathcal{Y}_{k-1}, \boldsymbol{\theta})\right) p(\boldsymbol{y}_0 | \boldsymbol{\theta})$$
(2.9)

where the rule $P(A \cap B) = P(A|B)P(B)$ has been applied to form a product of conditional probability densities. By introducing the notation:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{k|k-1} = E\{\boldsymbol{y}_k | \mathcal{Y}_{k-1}, \boldsymbol{\theta}\}$$
(2.10)

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1} = V\{\boldsymbol{y}_k | \mathcal{Y}_{k-1}, \boldsymbol{\theta}\}$$
(2.11)

and:

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k = \boldsymbol{y}_k - \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{k|k-1} \tag{2.12}$$

and by assuming that the conditional probability densities are Gaussian, the likelihood function can be written as follows:

$$L(\boldsymbol{\theta}; \mathcal{Y}_N) = \left(\prod_{k=1}^N \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k^T \boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k\right)}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1})} \left(\sqrt{2\pi}\right)^l}\right) p(\boldsymbol{y}_0|\boldsymbol{\theta})$$
(2.13)

where ϵ_k and $\mathbf{R}_{k|k-1}$ can be computed by means of a Kalman filter (LTI models) or an iterated extended Kalman filter (LTV and NL models). Further conditioning on y_0 and taking the negative logarithm gives:

$$-\ln\left(L(\boldsymbol{\theta}; \mathcal{Y}_{N} | \boldsymbol{y}_{0})\right) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\ln(\det(\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1})) + \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{k}^{T} \boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{k}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} l\right) \ln(2\pi)$$

$$(2.14)$$

and ML estimates of the parameters (and the initial states if these are unknown) can now be determined by solving the nonlinear optimisation problem:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}} = \arg\min_{\boldsymbol{\theta}\in\Theta} \left\{ -\ln\left(L(\boldsymbol{\theta}; \mathcal{Y}_N | \boldsymbol{y}_0)\right) \right\}$$
(2.15)

Maximum a posteriori estimation

If prior information about the parameters is available in the form of a prior probability density function $p(\theta)$, Bayes' rule can be applied to give an improved estimate by forming the posterior probability density function:

$$p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{Y}_N) = \frac{p(\mathcal{Y}_N|\boldsymbol{\theta})p(\boldsymbol{\theta})}{p(\mathcal{Y}_N)} \propto p(\mathcal{Y}_N|\boldsymbol{\theta})p(\boldsymbol{\theta})$$
(2.16)

and finding the parameters that maximize this function, i.e. by performing *maximum a posteriori* (MAP) estimation. By introducing the notation:

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}} = E\{\boldsymbol{\theta}\} \tag{2.17}$$

$$\Sigma_{\theta} = V\{\theta\} \tag{2.18}$$

and:

$$\epsilon_{\theta} = \theta - \mu_{\theta} \tag{2.19}$$

and by assuming that the prior probability density of the parameters is Gaussian, the posterior probability density function can be written as follows:

$$p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{Y}_N) \propto \left(\prod_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k^T \boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k\right)}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1})} \left(\sqrt{2\pi}\right)^l}\right) p(\boldsymbol{y}_0|\boldsymbol{\theta}) \\ \times \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^T \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}\right)}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}})} \left(\sqrt{2\pi}\right)^p}$$
(2.20)

Further conditioning on \boldsymbol{y}_0 and taking the negative logarithm gives:

$$-\ln\left(p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{Y}_{N},\boldsymbol{y}_{0})\right) \propto \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\ln(\det(\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1})) + \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{k}^{T} \boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{k}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} l\right) + p \right) \ln(2\pi) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \ln(\det(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}})) + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$$
(2.21)

and MAP estimates of the parameters (and the initial states if these are unknown) can now be determined by solving the nonlinear optimisation problem:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}} = \arg\min_{\boldsymbol{\theta}\in\Theta} \left\{ -\ln\left(p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{Y}_N, \boldsymbol{y}_0)\right) \right\}$$
(2.22)

Using several independent data sets

Instead of a single sequence of measurements, several separate sequences, i.e. $\mathcal{Y}_{N_1}^1, \mathcal{Y}_{N_2}^2, \ldots, \mathcal{Y}_{N_i}^i, \ldots, \mathcal{Y}_{N_S}^S$, possibly of varying length, may be available. In this case a similar estimation method can be applied by expanding the expression for the posterior probability density function to a more general form:

$$p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathbf{Y}) \propto \prod_{i=1}^{S} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{N_{i}} \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{k}^{i})^{T} (\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^{i})^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{k}^{i}\right)}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^{i})} (\sqrt{2\pi})^{l}} \right) p(\boldsymbol{y}_{0}^{i}|\boldsymbol{\theta}) \\ \times \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}\right)}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}})} (\sqrt{2\pi})^{p}}$$
(2.23)

where:

$$\mathbf{Y} = [\mathcal{Y}_{N_1}^1, \mathcal{Y}_{N_2}^2, \dots, \mathcal{Y}_{N_i}^i, \dots, \mathcal{Y}_{N_S}^S]$$
(2.24)

and where the individual sequences of measurements are assumed to be stochastically independent. Further conditioning on:

$$\mathbf{y}_{0} = [\boldsymbol{y}_{0}^{1}, \boldsymbol{y}_{0}^{2}, \dots, \boldsymbol{y}_{0}^{i}, \dots, \boldsymbol{y}_{0}^{S}]$$
(2.25)

and taking the negative logarithm gives:

$$-\ln\left(p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathbf{Y},\mathbf{y_0})\right) \propto \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{S} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} \left(\ln(\det(\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^i)) + (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k^i)^T (\boldsymbol{R}_{k|k-1}^i)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_k^i\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^{S} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} l\right) + p \right) \ln(2\pi) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \ln(\det(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}})) + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^T \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}$$
(2.26)

and estimates of the parameters (and the initial states if these are unknown) can now be determined by solving the nonlinear optimisation problem:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}} = \arg\min_{\boldsymbol{\theta}\in\Theta} \left\{ -\ln\left(p(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{y_0})\right) \right\}$$
(2.27)

2.1.3 Data issues

Within **CTSM** features have also been implemented for dealing with varying sample times, occasional outliers and missing observations.

2.1.4 Statistical tests

In addition to the parameter estimates themselves, **CTSM** computes the standard deviations of the estimates, the corresponding *t*-test scores and associated probabilities for testing the significance of the parameters, as well as the correlation matrix of the estimates. Altogether these quantities allow a number of statistical tests to be performed to investigate the quality of the model.

2.1.5 Residual analysis

To facilitate residual analysis **CTSM** can also be used to generate validation data in the form of state and output estimates corresponding to a given input data set, using either pure simulation, prediction, filtering or smoothing.

2.2 Installing CTSM

CTSM is available for Linux, Solaris and Windows platforms. This section provides instructions for downloading and installing the program on all three platforms. More information can be found on the program homepage:

http://www.imm.dtu.dk/ctsm

2.2.1 Downloading CTSM

CTSM can be downloaded or installed directly from the download section of the program homepage. To be able to install directly from the program homepage, your web browser must support Java applets.

2.2.2 Installing CTSM on Linux platforms

CTSM for Linux has only been tested on Red Hat Linux 7.3 but is expected to work on other Linux implementations as well. To install on Linux:

- 1. Use the installer applet on the program homepage or download the installer to a temporary directory, open a shell, cd to the temporary directory and type: sh ./install.bin.
- 2. Follow the on-screen instructions provided by the installer to automatically install the program on your system.
- 3. Update your system's LD_LIBRARY_PATH environment variable as instructed by the installer when installation is complete.

Updating the LD_LIBRARY_PATH environment variable

To permanently add newDir for bash, ksh and keysh shells:

- 1. Open the .profile file in your home directory.
- 2. Add the line: LD_LIBRARY_PATH=\$LD_LIBRARY_PATH:newDir.
- 3. Add the line: export LD_LIBRARY_PATH.
- 4. Save, log out and log in again.

To permanently add newDir for csh and tcsh shells:

- 1. Open the .login file in your home directory.
- 2. Add the line: setenv LD_LIBRARY_PATH \${LD_LIBRARY_PATH}:newDir.
- 3. Save, log out and log in again.

2.2.3 Installing CTSM on Solaris platforms

CTSM for Solaris has been optimized specifically for SUN servers equipped with ULTRASPARC-III processors using the Forte Developer 7 compiler suite. It will not run on systems with pre-ULTRASPARC-III processors and other versions of the compiler suite (use the workaround described on the program homepage for Solaris systems where Forte Developer 7 is installed but is not the default compiler suite). To find out if your system fulfills these requirements, contact your system administrator. To install on Solaris:

- 1. Use the installer applet on the program homepage or download the installer to a temporary directory, open a shell, cd to the temporary directory and type: sh ./install.bin.
- 2. Follow the on-screen instructions provided by the installer to automatically install the program on your system.
- 3. Update your system's LD_LIBRARY_PATH environment variable as instructed by the installer when installation is complete.

Updating the LD_LIBRARY_PATH environment variable

To permanently add newDir for bash, ksh and keysh shells:

- 1. Open the .profile file in your home directory.
- 2. Add the line: LD_LIBRARY_PATH=\$LD_LIBRARY_PATH:newDir.
- 3. Add the line: export LD_LIBRARY_PATH.
- 4. Save, log out and log in again.

To permanently add newDir for csh and tcsh shells:

- 1. Open the .login file in your home directory.
- 2. Add the line: setenv LD_LIBRARY_PATH \${LD_LIBRARY_PATH}:newDir.
- 3. Save, log out and log in again.

2.2.4 Installing CTSM on Windows platforms

CTSM for Windows has only been tested on Windows 2000 and XP, but is expected to work on other Windows versions as well. To install on Windows:

1. Use the installer applet on the program homepage or download the installer to a temporary directory and double-click install.exe.

- 2. Follow the on-screen instructions provided by the installer to automatically install the program on your system.
- 3. Update your system's PATH environment variable as instructed by the installer when installation is complete.
- 4. Make sure your system's TEMP environment variable is DOS-compliant (no blanks and no long path names).

Updating the PATH environment variable

To permanently add newDir on Windows 95, 98 and ME:

- 1. Open C:\Autoexec.bat.
- 2. Add the line: PATH=%PATH%;newDir.
- 3. Save and reboot.

To permanently add newDir on Windows NT, 2000 and XP:

- 1. Right-click My Computer.
- 2. Choose Properties Advanced Environment Variables.
- 3. Edit the PATH by adding: newDir.
- 4. Save and reboot.

Checking the TEMP environment variable

To check the TEMP variable on Windows 95, 98 and ME:

- 1. Open C:\Autoexec.bat.
- 2. If there is a TEMP line, make sure it is DOS-compliant.
- 3. Save and reboot, if you made any changes.

To check the TEMP variable on Windows NT, 2000 and XP:

- 1. Right-click My Computer.
- 2. Choose Properties Advanced Environment Variables.
- 3. Make sure the TEMP variable is DOS-compliant.
- 4. Save and reboot, if you made any changes.

Using CTSM

The various features of **CTSM** can all be controlled via the program's graphical user interface (GUI). The following is a step-by-step guide, which shows how to do this, with screen shots taken from the tutorial example in Appendix B.

3.1 Starting up CTSM

Depending on the platform, there are different ways of starting up **CTSM**.

3.1.1 Starting up CTSM on Linux platforms

If **CTSM** has been installed correctly and if the system's LD_LIBRARY_PATH environment variable has been updated appropriately (see Section 2.2.2), the program can be started from a shell by typing **Ctsm** in the directory where the program is installed or in the directory of the installed link.

3.1.2 Starting up CTSM on Solaris platforms

If **CTSM** has been installed correctly and if the system's LD_LIBRARY_PATH environment variable has been updated appropriately (see Section 2.2.3), the program can be started from a shell by typing **Ctsm** in the directory where the program is installed or in the directory of the installed link.

3.1.3 Starting up CTSM on Windows platforms

If **CTSM** has been installed correctly and if the system's PATH variable has been updated and the TEMP variable is DOS-compliant (see Section 2.2.4), the program can be started by double-clicking the installed shortcut.

3.2 Setting up a model

When **CTSM** has been started up, the GUI (Windows Look and Feel) appears as in Figure 3.1. The only enabled actions are New model and Open model (see Section 3.7 for details about opening an existing model).



Figure 3.1. GUI when CTSM has been started.

3.2.1 Creating a new model

To create a new model, select the New model action. The New Model Specification dialog now appears (see Figure 3.2), and you can specify the type and dimensions of the new model, you want to create. **CTSM** distinguishes between three different model types: LTI, LTV and NL, and the dimensions that must be specified are the number of inputs, the number of outputs, the number of states and the number of algebraic equations. At present, **CTSM** can only handle explicit algebraic equations, i.e. algebraic equations that can be substituted directly into the other equations of the model.



Figure 3.2. The empty New Model Specification dialog.

Models must have at least 1 output and 1 state. Models without inputs and algebraic equations are allowed. The upper limit on the number of inputs, outputs, states and algebraic equations is 50.

Figure 3.3 shows the New Model Specification dialog with values appropriately assigned. To proceed from here, press OK.

New Model Specification		X
Model type	Model dimensions	
C Linear Time Invariant (LTI)	Number of inputs	1
	Number of outputs	3
C Linear time varying (LTV)	Number of states	3
Nonlinear (NL)	Number of algebraic equations	1
0	K Cancel	

Figure 3.3. The New Model Specification dialog with values assigned.

3.2.2 Typing in the model equations

When a new model has been created, the GUI appears as in Figure 3.4 (with the Model tab and the Close model, Save model and Analyze model actions enabled), and the model equations can now be typed in.

🕃 CT5M - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled1	-OX
File Edit Compute Settings Model Help	
Model Parameters	
Algebraic equations	
# r # g(r,x,ut,0) 1 1 1 1	
- System equations	
# # f(r,x,u,t,B) d d 1 2 3 d 1 = 1 <	
Observation equations	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Other specifications	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Noninear (NL) model	

Figure 3.4. GUI when a new model has been created.

Typing in the model equations means typing in the symbolic names of the inputs (\boldsymbol{u}) , outputs (\boldsymbol{y}) and states (\boldsymbol{x}) and the symbolic expressions for the elements of vectors \boldsymbol{f} and \boldsymbol{h} (NL models), matrices $\boldsymbol{A}, \boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{C}$ and \boldsymbol{D} (LTI and LTV models) and matrices $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and \boldsymbol{S} . If the model has algebraic equations, their symbolic names and the symbolic expressions for the right hand sides must be typed in too.

The rules for typing in model equations are determined by **CTSM**'s interpreter:

- Characters accepted by the interpreter are letters A-Z and a-z, integers 0-9, operators +, -, *, /, ^, parentheses (and) and decimal separator ...
- The interpreter is case sensitive with respect to the symbolic names of inputs, outputs, states, algebraic equations and parameters, but not with respect to common mathematical functions. This means that the names 'k1' and 'K1' are different, whereas the names 'exp()' and 'EXP()' are the same. The single character 't' is treated as the time variable, whereas the single character 'T' is treated as any other single character.

- The number formats accepted by the interpreter are the following: Scientific (i.e. **1.2E+1**), standard (i.e. **12.0**) and integer (i.e. **12**).
- Each factor, i.e. each collection of latin letters and integers separated by operators or parentheses, which is not a number or a common mathematical function, is checked to see if it corresponds to the symbolic name of any of the inputs, outputs, states or algebraic equations or to the time variable. If not, the factor is regarded as a parameter.
- The common mathematical functions recognized by the interpreter are the following: abs(), sign(), sqrt(), exp(), log(), sin(), cos(), tan(), arcsin(), arctan(), sinh() and cosh().

3.2.3 Analyzing the model equations

An example of how the GUI appears when the model equations have been typed in is shown in Figure 3.5. To proceed from here by letting **CTSM**'s interpreter analyze the model equations, select the Analyze model action.

🚯 CTSM - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled 1	_ 🗆 🗙
File Edit Compute Settings Model Help	
Model parenters	
Agerraic equations -	
$\frac{\vec{x}}{4} = \frac{\vec{x}}{4} = \frac{g(r_x,\mu,t,\theta)}{g(r_x,\mu,t,\theta)}$	
- System equations -	
# x # f(r,x,µ,t,θ) σ(µ,t,θ) 1 2 3	
$d = \frac{1}{2} \frac{X}{S} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{mu^{3} X^{2} N^{3} V}{12 mu^{3} N^{2} $	
3 V 3 F 3 sig33	
Observation equations	
2 y2 2 S	
Cher specifications	
S(u,t,B) 1 2 3	
$\frac{1}{1}\overline{r}$, e is N(0,S), S = $\frac{1}{2}$ = $\frac{1}{2}$ = $\frac{1}{2}$	
3 \$33	
i Norinear (III) model	

Figure 3.5. GUI when the model equations have been typed in.

When analyzing the model equations the interpreter first checks for compliance with the rules for typing in model equations (see Section 3.2.2), and then analyzes each symbolic expression in turn to determine the symbolic names of the parameters of the model, which are then displayed along with the symbolic names of the initial states under the **Parameters** tab as shown in Figure 3.6.

CTSM - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled1							
File Edit Compute Settings Model Help							
Model Parameters							
Initial States							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
XO	æ	0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
SO	•	С	С	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
V0	œ	0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
Parameters							
Pointieters							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
mumax		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
K2		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
K1		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
Y		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
SF		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
sig11		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
sig22		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
sig33		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
\$11		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
\$22		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
\$33	۲	0	O.	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A
Tradicase (M) traditi							

Figure 3.6. GUI when the model has been analyzed.

Once the model equations have been analyzed the Analyze model action remains disabled until a change is made to the model equations.

3.3 Estimating parameters

When the initial states and parameters are first displayed under the Parameters tab (see Figure 3.6), they all have a default Initial value of 0 and radio buttons set to Fix. To perform an estimation, you have to specify an estimation method.

3.3.1 Specifying estimation method

The rules for specifying estimation method are the following:

- For fixed parameters, i.e. with radio buttons set to Fix, only the Initial value must be specified. The program will use this value as a fixed value.
- For parameters to be estimated with the *maximum likelihood* method (see Section 2.1), i.e. with radio buttons set to ML, the Minimum value and Maximum value must also be specified. In this case the program will use the Initial value as an initial guess.
- For parameters to be estimated with the *maximum a posteriori* method (see Section 2.1), i.e. with radio buttons set to MAP, the Prior std. dev. and the corresponding elements of the Prior Correlation Matrix, which appears below, must also be specified. In this case the program will regard the Initial value as the prior mean and use it as an initial guess.

An example of how the GUI appears when an estimation method has been specified for all initial states and parameters is shown in Figure 3.7.

CTSM - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled1							_ 🗆 ×
File Edit Compute Settings Model Help							
Model Parameters							
Initial States							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
XO	0		0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N/A
SO	0	•	0	0.0	0.25	1.0	N/A
V0	0	۲	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N/A
Parameters							
1 and to to							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
mumax	0		2	0.0	1.0	2.0	N/A
K2		0	2	N/A	0.5	N/A	N/A
K1	~	8	~	0.0	0.03	1.0	N/A
Y CF		-	~	NIA	0.5	NJA	NUA NUA
Sr	<u> </u>		2	N/A	10.0	N/A	N/A
sign	~		~	0.0	0.01	1.0	hi/A
sig22	~	ē	~	0.0	0.01	1.0	NZA
aigus e11				0.0	0.01	1.0	N/A
e77	6		6	0.0	0.1	1.0	NG
***	0		0	0.0	0.1	1.0	NG
				0.0	0.1		
Noninear (NL) model							

Figure 3.7. GUI when estimation methods have been specified.

3.3.2 Specifying estimation data

To start an estimation, select the Estimate parameters action. The Specification of Data for Estimation dialog now appears (see Figure 3.8), and you can select the data file(s), you want to use for the estimation.

Specification of Data for Estimation				×
Look in: ExampleNL Solo_1 csv Solo_2.csv		Add Remove Remove All	Data Files C:\CTSM23\documentation\Examples	VExampleNL\sde0_1.csv
File name: sde0_1.csv Files of type: CSV files (*.csv)	Y	OK Cancel	Sample Time © Constant © Varying	Input Interpolation © Zero order hold © First order hold

Figure 3.8. The Specification of Data for Estimation dialog.

CTSM expects data in semi-colon delimited CSV files (*.csv) with 1 + m + l columns, i.e. as many columns as there are inputs and outputs plus a column for time instants. Within each row the column entries must be separated by semi-colons ';' and appear in the order: time, inputs and outputs. For models with more than one input and/or more than one output the inputs and outputs must appear in the order they were typed in. Missing observations must be indicated with the number 1E300 (or larger). Note that when selecting more than one data file, the program will use the same initial states when processing all the selected files.

Apart from specifying data file(s), you must also specify to the program whether to use Constant or Varying sample time and whether to use a Zero order hold or a First order hold on the inputs between sample instants.

If Constant sample time is specified, the program will determine the sample time from the first two time instants in the data file(s). If Varying sample time is specified, sample times will be determined successively from the time instants.

When all necessary information has been provided, press OK to proceed.

3.3.3 Monitoring computation progress

An example of how the GUI appears when the computation has commenced is shown in Figure 3.9. You can monitor the progress of the computation via the **Trace of optimisation** panel, which shows the number of iterations, the number of objective function evaluations, the gradient approximation method and the value of the objective function, and via the **Trace of parameter estimates** panel, which shows the values of the individual parameter estimates.

CTSM - Continuous Time Stock	hastic Modelling - Untitled1	
File Edit Compute Settings Mo	del Help	
	2 2	na 🖣 🖓 🙀 🚳
Model Parameters Computing		
Status		
Estimating parameters		Stop
Trace of optimisation		
terations:	0	
Objective function qualuctions:	-	
Objective function evaluations.		
Gradient approximation method:	Central difference	
Objective function:	-0.5915981014934285E+02	
Trace of parameter estimates		
xo	1.0000E+00	
SO	2.5000E-01	
VO	1.0000E+00	
mumax	1.0000E+00	
К1	3.0000E-02	
sig11	1.0000E-02	
sig22	1.0000E-02	
sig33	1.0000E-02	
s11	1.0000E-01	
s22	1.0000E-01	
s33	1.0000E-01	
Nonlinear (NL) model		

Figure 3.9. GUI when the computation has commenced.

The computation can be stopped at any time by pressing the Stop button in the Status panel. The Stop button terminates execution, so it cannot be used to pause the computation.

3.3.4 Interpreting estimation results

Once the computation is complete, and the initial states and parameters have been estimated (see Section 5.1 for an explanation of common error messages if the computation stops prematurely), the GUI appears as in Figure 3.10.

)CTSM - Conti	nuous Tim	e Stor	chastic M	Modelling - Un	titled1												_ 8
le Edit Comp	ute Setting	gs M	odel He	slp	1. 1.	1 . 1											
) 🖆 🖆 🔒		110	22	≓ X 3(0) e	→θ [×] nı _o [×] nı	-k [×] 117	× _{tiln} 🧐										
odel Paramete	rs Results	1															
Optimisation Re	sults																
Value of objectiv Value of penalty Negative logarith	ve function: / function: nm of determ	inant d	of Hessia	-3.88 3.30 n: -1.86	4856753834 1850010908 9768748598	1382E+ 7442E- 3426E+	02 04 02										
Number of iterat Number of object	ions: tive function	ı evalu	ations:				50 71										
Initial States																	
	Fix	ML	MAP	Min. value	Initial valu	e 1	Max, value	Pr. std. c	lev.	Est	imate	Std. dev.	t-s	core	p(>tt)	dF/dPar	dPen/dPar
0	С	æ	0	0.0	1	.0	2.0		N/A	1.00	95E+00	1.0282E-0	2	38.1886	0.0000	0.0002	0.0002
30	C	¢	C	0.0	0.	25	1.0	[N/A	2.38	335E-01	8.9163E-0	3	26.7317	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
/0	C	6	0	0.0	1	.0	2.0	1	N/A	1.00	40E+00	6.3064E-0	3 1	59.1950	0.0000	-0.0000	0.0002
Parameters																	
	Fix	ML	MAP	Min. value	Initial valu	e 1	Max, value	Pr. std. c	lev.	Est	imate	Std. dev.	t-s	core	p(>tt)	dF/dPar	dPen/dPar
mumax	C	æ	0	0.0	1	.0	2.0		N/A	1.00	22E+00	3.3419E-0	3 2	39.9010	0.0000	0.0011	0.0002
12	6	С	C	N/A	0	0.5	N/A		N/A		0.5	N/s	A .	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
લ	0	œ	C	0.0	0.	03	1.0		N/A	3.16	529E-02	1.5977E-0	3	19.7966	0.0000	-0.0001	0.0000
4	e	С	C	N/A	0	0.5	N/A	1	N/A		0.5	N6	A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
SF	C	C	C	N/A	10	0.0	N/A		N/A		10.0	N/	A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
sig11	0	G	C	0.0	0.	01	1.0		N/A	9.67	704E-28	1.6214E-2	6	0.0596	0.9525	-0.0000	-0.0000
iig22	0	(•	C	0.0	0.	01	1.0		N/A	1.74	171E-06	4.2576E-0	6	0.4104	0.6818	0.0000	0.0000
sig33	C	•	C	0.0	0.	01	1.0		N/A	1.09	903E-08	4.1507E-0	8	0.2627	0.7930	-0.0000	0.0000
s11	C	e	C	0.0	0	0.1	1.0		N/A	7.52	248E-03	9.7618E-0	4	7.7084	0.0000	-0.0000	0.0000
s22	C	6	C	0.0	0	0.1	1.0		N/A	1.06	36E-03	1.3763E-0	4	7.7279	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
s33	0	6	0	0.0	(0.1	1.0		N/A	1.13	388E-02	1.4960E-0	3	7.6125	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Correlation Matr	ix																
		Г	P		en [V0	[1/4	mint		nia22		old				
		-	XO	1	0.3982	0 4658	-0.0497	0.6018	0(0244	0.1732	0.0438	-0.100	0.0548	-0.0114		
			SO	0.3962	1	0.3482	-0.1021	0.3830	0.0	0531	0.1742	0.0594	0.007	0.0485	0.0014		
		F	V0	0.4658	0.3482	1	0.0705	0.6257	-0.0	0224	0.0270	-0.0273	0.017	0.0640	0.0100		
		-	mumax	-0.0497	0.1021	0.0705	1	0.6823	-0.3	3139	-0.3144	-0.3191	0.073	-0.1030	0.0163		

Figure 3.10. GUI when the initial states and parameters have been estimated.

For each result set (here Results 1) a number of panels are displayed: An Optimisation Results panel with information about the course of the optimisation, three, or four if MAP estimation has been used, panels with the results of the estimation, a Data panel with information about the data file(s) used for the estimation, a Model panel with the model equations, and a Settings panel.

The Optimisation Results panel displays the value of the objective function, and the value of the prior probability density function if MAP estimation has been used, along with the value of the penalty function and the negative logarithm of the determinant of the Hessian (see the Mathematics Guide for details), the number of iterations and the number of objective function evaluations.

If the value of the penalty function is significant compared to the value of the objective function, a parameter may be close to one of its limits, and you should consider to loosen this limit.

The panels with the results of the estimation display information about all the initial states and parameters, the Correlation Matrix of the parameter estimates, and the Prior Correlation Matrix if MAP estimation has been used.

For each initial state and parameter the information provided under the Parameters tab is redisplayed along with the Estimate, the Std. dev. and the corresponding t-score (see Section 2.1). The p(>|t|) value is the fraction of probability of the corresponding t-distribution outside the limits set by the t-score.

Loosely speaking, the p(>|t|) value is the probability that the particular initial state or parameter is insignificant, i.e. equal to 0.

The dF/dPar and dPen/dPar values are derivatives of the objective function and the penalty function with respect to the particular initial state or parameter.

If the dF/dPar value is not close to zero, the solution found may not be the true optimum, and you should consider changing some settings for the optimisation and repeating the computation. If the dPen/dPar value is significant compared to the dF/dPar value, the particular initial state or parameter may be close to one of its limits, and you should consider to loosen this limit.

Below the initial states and parameters the Correlation Matrix of the parameter estimates (see Section 2.1) is displayed, and below that the Prior Correlation Matrix is redisplayed if MAP estimation has been used.

If the Correlation Matrix has off-diagonal values close to 1 or -1, it is an indication that the model is overparameterized, and you should consider eliminating some of the parameters.

3.3.5 Printing estimation results

The results of an estimation, i.e. the contents of a result set, can be printed on paper by selecting the Print selected result set action.

CTSM prints the contents of the Optimisation Results panel, the panels with the results of the estimation, the Data panel and the Settings panel. The Model panel is not printed. The Correlation Matrix and the Prior Correlation Matrix are only printed if they are small enough to fit (in terms of width) on a single piece of paper.

3.3.6 Exporting estimation results

Some of the contents of a result set can be exported to a file by selecting the Export selected result set action. This will make the Specification of Export of

Specification of	Export of Results		×
Save in:	My Documents 💽 🗈 🖼 🖽	Number Format	Results to Export ✓ Optimisation Results ✓ Estimation Setup ✓ Name tags ✓ FixML/MAP ✓ Min. values ✓ Initial values ✓ Max. values ✓ Pr. std. dev.'s ✓ Estimation Results ✓ Estimates ✓ Std. dev.'s ✓ Y L-scores ✓ p(>t)'s
File name:	ок		l dF/dPar's
Files of type:			dPen/dPar's
i noo or type.			Correlation Matrix

Results dialog appear (see Figure 3.11), and you can specify which parts of the exportable results you want to export and to what output file.

Figure 3.11. The Specification of Export of Results dialog.

CTSM exports results in three different file formats: Tab delimited ASCII files (*.txt), semi-colon delimited CSV files (*.csv) and appropriately formatted LATEX files (*.tex).

3.3.7 Deleting estimation results

The results of an estimation, i.e. the contents of a result set, can be permanently deleted by selecting the Remove selected result set action.

3.4 Generating validation data

Having estimated the initial states and parameters, you have the possibility of generating validation data for performing residual analysis.

CTSM saves validation data in semi-colon delimited CSV files (*.csv). Data files of this type can easily be imported into MATLAB, S-Plus and standard spreadsheet programs.

3.4.1 Generating pure simulation data

Pure simulation data, i.e. state and output estimates based only on the inputs in a given data file (which must, however, also include outputs) can be generated for a given set of initial states and parameters by selecting the Generate pure simulation data action, which will make the Specification of Data for Validation dialog appear (see Figure 3.12), so you can select the data file, you want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). The state and output estimates generated are $\hat{x}_{k|0}$ and $\hat{y}_{k|0}$, along with their standard deviations $SD(\hat{x}_{k|0}) = \sqrt{\text{diag}(P_{k|0})}$ and $SD(\hat{y}_{k|0}) = \sqrt{\text{diag}(R_{k|0})}$, corresponding to each time instant t_k in the data file (see Section 2.1). Apart from specifying the data file, you must also specify whether to use Constant or Varying sample time and whether to use a Zero order hold or a First order hold on the inputs between sample instants (see Section 3.3.2). When all necessary information has been provided, press OK to proceed. Once the pure simulation data set has been generated, you must specify an output file for saving the data.

Specification of	Data for Validation	×
Look in:	ExampleNL E	Sample Time C Constant Varying Input Interpolation C Zero order hold C First order hold
File name: Files of type:	sde0_2.csv OK CSV files (*.csv) Cancel	

Figure 3.12. The Specification of Data for Validation dialog.

CTSM saves pure simulation data in semi-colon delimited CSV files (*.csv) with 1 + 2n + 2l columns. Within each row the column entries will be separated by semi-colons ';' and appear in the order: t_k , $\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_{k|0}$, $\mathrm{SD}(\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_{k|0})$, $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{k|0}$ and $\mathrm{SD}(\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{k|0})$. For models with more than one state and/or more than one output the state and output estimates will appear in the order they were typed in.

3.4.2 Generating prediction data

Prediction data, i.e. state and output estimates based on the inputs and lagged values of the outputs in a given data file can be generated for a given set of initial states and parameters by selecting the Generate prediction data action, which will make the Specification of Data for Validation dialog appear (see Figure 3.12), so you can select the data file, you want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). The state and output estimates generated are $\hat{x}_{k|k-j}$, $j \geq 1$, and $\hat{y}_{k|k-j}$, $j \geq 1$, along with their standard deviations $SD(\hat{x}_{k|k-j}) = \sqrt{\text{diag}(P_{k|k-j})}$ and $SD(\hat{y}_{k|k-j}) = \sqrt{\text{diag}(R_{k|k-j})}$, corresponding to each time instant t_k in the data file (see Section 2.1). Apart from specifying the data file, you must also specify j, whether to use Constant or Varying sample time and whether to use a Zero order hold or a First order hold on the inputs between sample instants (see Section 3.3.2). When all necessary information has been provided, press OK to proceed. Once the prediction data set has been generated, you must specify an output file for saving the data.

CTSM saves prediction data in semi-colon delimited CSV files (*. csv) with 1 + 2n + 2l columns. Within each row the column entries will be separated by semi-colons ';' and appear in the order: t_k , $\hat{x}_{k|k-j}$, $\text{SD}(\hat{x}_{k|k-j})$, $\hat{y}_{k|k-j}$ and $\text{SD}(\hat{y}_{k|k-j})$. For models with more than one state and/or more than one output the state and output estimates will appear in the order they were typed in.

3.4.3 Generating filtering data

Filtering data, i.e. state estimates based on the inputs and non-lagged values of the outputs in a given data file can be generated for a given set of initial states and parameters by selecting the Generate filtering data action, which will make the Specification of Data for Validation dialog appear (see Figure 3.12), so you can select the data file, you want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). The state estimates generated are $\hat{x}_{k|k}$, along with their standard deviations $\text{SD}(\hat{x}_{k|k}) = \sqrt{\text{diag}(P_{k|k})}$, corresponding to each time instant t_k in the data file (see Section 2.1). Apart from specifying the data file, you must also specify to the program whether to use Constant or Varying sample time and whether to use a Zero order hold or a First order hold on the inputs between sample instants (see Section 3.3.2). When all necessary information has been provided, press OK to proceed. Once the filtering data set has been generated, you must specify an output file for saving the data. **CTSM** saves filtering data in semi-colon delimited CSV files $(*. \mathtt{csv})$ with 1 + 2n columns. Within each row the column entries will be separated by semi-colons ';' and appear in the order: t_k , $\hat{x}_{k|k}$ and $\mathrm{SD}(\hat{x}_{k|k})$. For models with more than one state the estimates will appear in the order they were typed in.

3.4.4 Generating smoothing data

For nonlinear models, smoothing data, i.e. state estimates based on all of the inputs and all of the outputs in a given data file can be generated for a given set of initial states and parameters by selecting the Generate smoothing data action, which will make the Specification of Data for Validation dialog appear (see Figure 3.12), so you can select the data file, you want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). The state estimates generated are $\hat{x}_{k|N}$, along with their standard deviations $\text{SD}(\hat{x}_{k|N}) = \sqrt{\text{diag}(P_{k|N})}$, corresponding to each time instant t_k in the data file (see Section 2.1). Apart from specifying the data file, you must also specify to the program whether to use Constant or Varying sample time and whether to use a Zero order hold or a First order hold on the inputs between sample instants (see Section 3.3.2). When all necessary information has been provided, press OK to proceed. Once the smoothing data set has been generated, you must specify an output file for saving the data.

CTSM saves smoothing data in semi-colon delimited CSV files $(*. \operatorname{csv})$ with 1 + 2n columns. Within each row the column entries will be separated by semi-colons ';' and appear in the order: t_k , $\hat{x}_{k|N}$ and $\operatorname{SD}(\hat{x}_{k|N})$. For models with more than one state the estimates will appear in the order they were typed in.

3.5 Changing the settings for a model

Using the Settings menu, it is possible to control a number of the computational features within **CTSM**, which may be useful to obtain better results.

3.5.1 Changing filter settings

Selecting the Filter ... menu item brings up the Filter Settings dialog (see Figure 3.13), which holds the controls for the (iterated extended) Kalman filter part of **CTSM** (see the Mathematics Guide for details).

Filter Settings	X
Method for Solution of Propagation Equations	
O Subsampling approximation	
O Numerical ODE solution (Adams method for non-stiff systems)	s)
C Numerical ODE solution (BDF method for stiff systems)	
Filter Settings	
Scaling factor for initial covariance	1.0
Number of subsamples for subsampling approximation	10
Tolerance for numerical ODE solution	1.0E-12
Maximum number of iterations in iterated extended Kalman filter	1
Tolerance for iterated extended Kalman filter	1.0E-12
OK	

Figure 3.13. The Filter Settings dialog.

LTI models

For LTI models, only the Scaling factor for initial covariance (default: 1.0) is displayed. It is used in the calculation of the covariance of the initial states.

The larger the scaling factor, the more uncertain the initial states.

LTV models

For LTV models, the Number of subsamples in iterated extended Kalman filter (default: 10) is displayed in addition to the above scaling factor. This is the number of subsamples used in the subsampling approximation to the true solution of the propagation equations in the iterated extended Kalman filter.

The more subsamples, the more accurate the approximation.

NL models

For NL models, all settings are displayed. The top panel of the dialog provides a possibility for choosing which method to apply for solving the propagation equations of the iterated extended Kalman filter: 1) Subsampling approximation, 2) numerical ODE solution with the Adams method for non-stiff systems (default) or 3) numerical ODE solution with the BDF method for stiff systems. In the lower panel the Tolerance for numerical ODE solution (default: 1.0E-12) is the tolerance used by the ODE solvers in the iterated extended Kalman filter.

The lower the tolerance, the more accurate the ODE solution.

The Maximum number of iterations in iterated extended Kalman filter (default: 1) is the maximum number of iterations performed to reduce the effects of measurement equation nonlinearities in the iterated extended Kalman filter, and the Tolerance for iterated extended Kalman filter (default: 1.0E-12) is the corresponding tolerance. The measurement equation is iterated until the tolerance is met or until the maximum number of iterations is reached.

The more iterations and the lower the tolerance, the better.

3.5.2 Changing optimisation settings

Selecting the Optimisation ... menu item brings up the Optimisation Settings dialog (see Figure 3.14), which holds the basic controls for the optimisation part of **CTSM** (see the Mathematics Guide for details).

Optimisation Settings	×
Optimisation Settings	
Maximum number of objective function evaluations	500
Adjustment factor for initial step length in line search	1.0E-6
Relative error in calculation of objective function	1.0E-14
OK	

Figure 3.14. The Optimisation Settings dialog.

The Maximum number of objective function evaluations (default: 500) is simply a limit on the number of objective function evaluations, the Adjustment factor for initial step length in line search (default: 1.0E-6) is a value used to adjust the initial step length in the line search, and the Relative error in calculation of objective function (default: 1.0E-14) is a value used to determine a step size for the finite difference gradient approximations within the optimisation algorithm.

There is usually no need to adjust any of these values.

3.5.3 Changing advanced settings

Selecting the Advanced ... menu item brings up the Advanced Settings dialog (see Figure 3.15), which holds the advanced controls for the optimisation part of **CTSM** and controls for some computational settings (see the Mathematics Guide for details). The Cut-off value for Huber's psi-function (default: 3.0) is the constant c in Huber's ψ -function. The Padé approximation order (default: 6) is the order of the Padé approximation used to compute matrix exponentials. The Tolerance for singular value decomposition (default: 1.0E-12) is a value used to determine if the A matrix is singular or not. The Lagrange multiplier in penalty function (default: 1.0E-4) is the λ value used in the penalty function. The Minimum absolute value used for normalizing in penalty function is a value used to ensure numerical stability in calculation of the penalty function.

Advanced Settings	X
Computational Settings	
Cut-off value for Huber's psi-function	3.0
Padé approximation order	6
Tolerance for singular value decomposition	1.0E-12
Advanced Optimisation Settings	
Lagrange multiplier in penalty function	1.0E-4
Minimum absolute value used for normalizing in penalty function	1.0E-30
OK	

Figure 3.15. The Advanced Settings dialog.

There is usually no need to adjust any of these values.

3.6 Modifying the structure of a model

Using the Add/remove inputs, Add/remove outputs, Add/remove states and Add/remove algebraic equations actions, the structure of a model can be modified. As an example, Figure 3.16 shows the Add/remove inputs dialog that appears when the Add/remove inputs action is selected. Using this dialog, existing input variables can be eliminated and new input variables can be added.



Figure 3.16. The Add/remove inputs dialog.

3.7 Saving and opening a model

To save a model, you simply select the Save model action, which will allow you to specify an output file for saving the current model.

CTSM saves models in binary files of type ***.ctsm**. When a model is saved, the current state of the model equations, the current specifications under the **Parameters** tab, all result sets and the current settings are saved. Model files are platform independent, so the same model file can be used on both Linux, Solaris and Windows.

To open a model, you simply select the **Open model** action, which will allow you to select the file with the model you want to open.

IMPORTANT: Models created in **CTSM 2.0**, in **CTSM 2.1** and in **CTSM 2.2** are unfortunately incompatible with **CTSM 2.3**. Trying to open such models will result in an error.

Tips and tricks

This chapter provides some tips for making **CTSM** run more smoothly and some tricks and workarounds for handling complicated modelling tasks.

4.1 Tips for making the estimation run smoothly

To avoid numerical problems and to ensure an appropriate level of accuracy when performing estimations in **CTSM**, the following tips may be useful.

4.1.1 Scaling of variables

Numerical problems may be avoided by using appropriately scaled values of the inputs, outputs and states of the model. Therefore, if possible, these variables should have physical units that confine their numerical values to the interval [-1, 1]. If this is not possible, scaled or normalized variables should be used.

4.1.2 Selecting appropriate parameter values

To ensure an appropriate level of accuracy of the estimation results (especially to obtain accurate standard deviations and an accurate correlation matrix), the Number of iterations should not be too low. What too low means depends on the particular model, but as a rule of thumb the Number of iterations should be above 20. The Number of iterations can be influenced by appropriately selecting the Minimum values, Initial values and Maximum values of the initial states and parameters to be estimated, e.g. in accordance with these tips:

- 1. Use a non-zero Initial value if possible.
- 2. If you know the "true" value, use a different Initial value.
- 3. Do not set the Minimum value and Maximum value too close to each other.
- 4. Do not set the Minimum value and Maximum value too far from each other.

Another tip that may be useful is that it is sometimes a good idea to let the program estimate all of the initial states and parameters instead of fixing some of them. In particular, it is usually more robust to estimate the initial states.

4.1.3 Data issues

CTSM has built-in features for automatically handling varying sample times, occasional outliers and missing observations in the data sets used for estimation.

With respect to the latter, the program recognizes the number 1E300 (or larger) as a missing observation. When a missing observation is reached the (iterated extended) Kalman filter predicts its value based on previous observations and the calculation of the objective function is modified accordingly. If, however, there are missing input values in the data sets it is more difficult. In this case it is necessary to fill in the missing input values before running **CTSM**.

4.2 Various tricks and workarounds

CTSM has certain limitations with respect to introducing discontinuous functionalities in a model, because Dirac's δ -function, Heaviside's unit function and other threshold-based model components cannot be implemented directly, but these limitations may be circumvented with one of the following workarounds.

4.2.1 A general trick for modelling thresholds

The workaround for modelling thresholds consists of replacing a sharp threshold with an equivalent smooth threshold, i.e. by replacing the threshold model:

$$f(\boldsymbol{z}) = \begin{cases} f_1(\boldsymbol{z}) &, g(\boldsymbol{z}) \le a \\ f_2(\boldsymbol{z}) &, g(\boldsymbol{z}) > a \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

with the corresponding smooth threshold model:

$$f(z) = \frac{f_1(z)}{1 + \exp(-\gamma(a - g(z)))} + \frac{f_2(z)}{1 + \exp(\gamma(a - g(z)))}$$
(4.2)

where the smoothness is introduced by means of two sigmoidal functions. The γ parameter is used to tune to sharpness of the threshold. The larger γ , the sharper threshold. In the above formulation \boldsymbol{z} is a vector variable, signifying that, in general, thresholds depending on the states \boldsymbol{x} , the inputs \boldsymbol{u} and the parameters $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ as well as the time variable t can be modelled this way. A special case of (4.1) depending only on the time variable t is Heaviside's unit function:

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} 0 & , t \le 0 \\ 1 & , t > 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

which can be modelled by replacing it with:

$$f(t) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(-\gamma t)}$$
(4.4)

which is a special case of (4.2). In a similar fashion, simple thresholds depending on other variables can be modelled. Replacing sharp thresholds with smooth approximations may affect the accuracy of the results, but the only other danger in doing this is the effect of a very large value of γ on numerical stability.

4.2.2 Tricks for modelling pulses and steps in inputs

A workaround that can be used for modelling pulses and steps in one or more of the inputs u is to modify the corresponding columns in the data files.

Modelling a single pulse in a specific input

- Start by setting all values in the column corresponding to the specific input in the data file equal to 0.
- If there are not already rows in the data file that correspond to the time of the beginning and the end of the pulse, add new lines that do.
- Fill in the value of the size of the pulse in the beginning row and in all rows between the beginning and end rows (not in the end row itself).
- If you added new lines, fill in the values for the other inputs in these rows as well (you may have to use interpolation), and remember to mark all the corresponding outputs as missing (1E300).
- Finally, remember to use Zero order hold interpolation between inputs when performing the estimation to correctly obtain the desired pulse.

As an example, the following regularly sampled data file for a two-input, twooutput system has a pulse of size 1 between time 2.5 and 3.5 in the first input:

0;	0;	1;	0.1;	0.1
1;	0;	0.5;	0.2;	0.1
2;	0;	0;	0.3;	0.1
2.5;	1;	0.25;	1E300;	1E300
3;	1;	0.5;	0.1;	0.2
3.5;	0;	0.75;	1E300;	1E300
4;	0;	1;	0.2;	0.3
5;	0;	0.5;	0.3;	0.3
6;	0;	0;	0.4;	0.3

Modelling a single step in a specific input

- Start by setting all values previous to the step in the column corresponding to the specific input in the data file equal to 0.
- If there is not already a row in the data file that corresponds to the time of the step, add a new line that does.
- Fill in the value of the size of the step in this and all subsequent rows.
- If you added a new line, fill in the values for the other inputs in this row as well (you may have to use interpolation), and remember to mark all the corresponding outputs as missing (1E300).
- Finally, remember to use Zero order hold interpolation between inputs when performing the estimation to correctly obtain the desired step.

As an example, the following regularly sampled data file for a two-input, twooutput system has a step of size 1 at time 2.5 in the first input:

0;	0;	1;	0.1;	0.1
1;	0;	0.5;	0.2;	0.1
2;	0;	0;	0.3;	0.1
2.5;	1;	0.25;	1E300;	1E300
3;	1;	0.5;	0.2;	0.3
4;	1;	1;	0.3;	0.3
5;	1;	0.5;	0.4;	0.3
6;	1;	0;	0.5;	0.3

Troubleshooting

This chapter focuses on what to do if problems occur while running CTSM.

5.1 Common error messages

This section explains the error messages that may occur while running **CTSM** and seeks to provide information about how to avoid the corresponding errors.

5.1.1 GUI input errors

All input to **CTSM** provided via the dialogs for New Model Specification, Specification of Data for Estimation, Specification of Export of Results, Specification of Data for Validation, Filter Settings, Optimisation Settings and Advanced Settings is checked immediately upon being typed in, and all errors are reported via error messages intended to be selfexplanatory. The latter also applies to errors in the typed in model equations revealed when the model is analyzed.

5.1.2 Computational errors

Within **CTSM**'s computational code, i.e. within the code used for estimation or generation of validation data, a number of errors may occur due to misspecification or numerical problems, some of which are more common than others.

Common errors

The following computational errors are the most common:

Unable to calculate matrix exponential!

To solve this problem (within the iterated extended Kalman filter), try increasing the Number of subsamples in iterated extended Kalman filter (see Section 3.5.1).

Unable to perform numerical ODE solution!

To solve this problem (within the iterated extended Kalman filter), try decreasing the Tolerance for numerical ODE solution (see Section 3.5.1).

The maximum number of objective function evaluations has been exceeded!

The maximum objective function value (1e300) has been exceeded!

The measurement noise covariance matrix is not positive definite!

The state covariance matrix is not positive definite!

To solve these problems (with optimisation), try different linitial value's and different limits on some of the initial states and parameters (see Section 3.3.1).

Uncommon errors

The following computational errors are much less common:

The amount of data available is insufficient to perform the estimation!

To solve this problem, provide a data file with more observations.

The prior covariance matrix is not positive definite!

To solve this specification problem, make sure the Prior Correlation Matrix and the Prior std. dev.'s have been correctly specified (see Section 3.3.1).

Unable to determine reciprocal condition number!

Unable to compute singular value decomposition!

Unable to solve system of linear equations!

To solve these problems (with linear algebra), try different lnitial value's and maybe different limits on some of the initial states and parameters (see Section 3.3.1).

5.1.3 Exceptions

In addition to the above errors, a number of exceptions may be triggered if something unexpected happens within the program's code. If an exception occurs, **CTSM** displays an error message explaining in which part of the code the exception occured. If you experience this, you are kindly asked to file a bug report, which describes, if possible, what made the exception occur.

5.2 Frequently asked questions

Other reports on problems with **CTSM**, and how they may be solved, can be found in the FAQ section of the program homepage:

http://www.imm.dtu.dk/ctsm

Appendices

Example: LTI model of the heat dynamics of a wall

This appendix provides an example of using **CTSM** for estimating parameters in an LTI model of the heat dynamics of a wall. The model file generated in this example and the two data files used can be found in a subdirectory of the documentation directory (a subdirectory of the main directory CTSM23). The files are also available for download on the program homepage:

http://www.imm.dtu.dk/ctsm

A.1 Model equations

Imagine that we want to estimate the parameters in a simple model of the heat dynamics of a wall. The system equation of the model is:

$$d\begin{pmatrix} T_{1} \\ T_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \left(\begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{G_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{H_{1}} + \frac{1}{H_{2}} \right) & \frac{1}{G_{1}H_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{G_{2}H_{2}} & -\frac{1}{G_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{H_{2}} + \frac{1}{H_{3}} \right) \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_{1} \\ T_{2} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{G_{1}H_{1}} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{G_{2}H_{3}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_{e} \\ T_{i} \end{pmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{11} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{22} \end{bmatrix} d\omega_{t}$$
(A.1)

where the state variables T_1 and T_2 are the outer wall temperature and the inner wall temperature, the input variables T_e and T_i are the outdoor temperature and the indoor temperature, and G_1 , G_2 , H_1 , H_2 and H_3 are parameters of the thermal network describing the wall. The measurement equation is:

$$(q_i)_k = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{H_3} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_1 \\ T_2 \end{pmatrix}_k + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{H_3} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T_e \\ T_i \end{pmatrix}_k + e_k$$
(A.2)

where the output variable (q_i) is the heat flux and $e_k \in N(0, S)$. The true parameter values used for generating the data we will use are given in Table A.1.

G_1	G_2	H_1	H_2	H_3	σ_{11}	σ_{22}	S
100	50	1	2	0.5	0	0	0.01

Table A.1. True values of the parameters of the wall heat dynamics model.

A.2 Setting up the model

We begin our work by starting up **CTSM** (see Section 3.1).

A.2.1 Creating a new model

We then select the New model action, provide the appropriate information (i.e. that the model is linear time invariant and has 2 inputs, 1 output and 2 states) in the New Model Specification dialog and press OK (see Figure A.1).

New Model Specification	X	
Model type	Model dimensions	
C Linear Time Invariant (LTI)	Number of inputs	2
C. Lincon Time Vension (LTV)	Number of outputs	1
C Linear time varying (LTV)	Number of states	2
C Nonlinear (NL)	Number of algebraic equations	0

Figure A.1. The New Model Specification dialog with values assigned.

A.2.2 Typing in the model equations

The GUI now appears as in Figure A.2 and we are ready to type in the model equations. After doing this, the GUI appears as in Figure A.3.

A.2.3 Analyzing the model equations

We are now ready to let **CTSM**'s interpreter analyze the model equations, so we select the Analyze model action. When analyzing the model equations the interpreter first checks for compliance with the rules for typing in model equations (see Section 3.2.2) and then determines the symbolic names of the parameters of the model, which are then displayed along with the symbolic names of the initial states under the Parameters tab as in Figure A.4.



Figure A.2. GUI when the new model has been created.



Figure A.3. GUI when the model equations have been typed in.

File Mail Mail <t< th=""><th>td. dev. N// N//</th></t<>	td. dev. N// N//
Image:	td. dev. N// N// td. dev.
Nacesian Proceeding Marce All Marce All <t< th=""><th>td. dev. N// N//</th></t<>	td. dev. N// N//
Prior Prior <th< th=""><th>td. dev. N// N//</th></th<>	td. dev. N// N//
Fix ML MAP Manimum value Initial value Manimum value Processor 120 C C C No.A 0.0 No.A 720 C C C No.A 0.00 No.A Processor Fix ML MAP Manimum value Processor G1 MAP Manimum value Processor Fix ML MAP Manimum value Processor Fix ML MAP Manimum value Processor G1 C C No.A 0.00 No.A Fix C C No.A 0.00 No.A Fix C No.A 0.00 No.A Fix C C No.A 0.00 No.A Fix C C No.A 0.00 No.A Fix C C No.A	td. dev. N// N//
F10 C C HUA 0.0 NUA T20 C NUA 0.0 NUA NUA Fix matters Fix M. MAP More markets More markets More markets 61 C C NUA 0.0 NUA Promission H1 C C NUA 0.0 NUA NUA H2 C NUA 0.0 NUA NUA	N// N//
T20 P NA 0.0 NA Permeters	N//
Fix ML MAP Minimum value Initial value Maximum value Prior 61 C C NA 00 NA 100 <t< th=""><td>td. dev.</td></t<>	td. dev.
Fix ML MAP Minimum value Modimum value Priori G1 G* G* NUA 0.0 NUA Priori H1 G* G* NUA 0.0 NUA Priori H2 G* G* NUA 0.0 NUA NUA	td. dev.
Pix ML MAP Million water Million water Million water Million water Million Pixon 61 C C NA 0.00 NA	ta, dey,
HI C C NAA 00 NAA H2 C C NAA 00 NAA	b1/r
12 O C N/A 00 N/A	NG
	NG
32 C N/A 0.0 N/A	NC
13 C C N/A 0.0 N/A	NZ
ig11 C C N/A 0.0 N/A	N
N/A 0.0 N/A	N
S C NUA 00 NUA	NØ

Figure A.4. GUI when the model has been analyzed.

As expected, CTSM finds 2 initial states and 8 parameters in the model.

A.3 Estimating parameters

We are now ready to set up an estimation problem.

A.3.1 Specifying estimation method

To set up an estimation problem, we have to specify an estimation method for each of the initial states and parameters (see Section 3.3.1). After we have finished doing this, the GUI appears as in Figure A.5.

A.3.2 Specifying estimation data

We are now ready to start the estimation, so we select the Estimate parameters action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Estimation appears (see Figure A.6), and we can select the data file(s), we want to use for the estimation. Apart from specifying data file(s), we must provide some additional information for the program as shown in Section 3.3.2. We want to use the data file ltidata.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that and press OK, and the computation starts.

Fix MA MAP Mnamu value Hold value Molecture Molecture No	ial States							
Fix ML MAP Minimum value Initial value Minimum value Prior tal down C C C C D								
C C C 100 150 200 N C C C 200 250 300 N Fix M. MAP Marina value Had value Macimum value Proc 1d. der C C C C 0.00 100.00 220.0 NN C C C 0.00 10.00 220.0 NN C C C 0.00 0.00 10.00 220.0 NN C C C 0.00 0.00 10.00 220.0 NN C C C 0.00 0.00 10.00 20.0 NN C C C C 0.00 0.001 10.0 NN C C C 0.00 0.001 11.0 NN C C C 0.00 0.01 11.0 NN		Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev
Pic ML MAP Minimum value Mediam value Mediam value Pice relation Fix ML MAP Minimum value Mediam value Mediam value Pice relation C C C 0.0 1000 200.0 N C C C 0.0 100.0 200.0 N C C C 0.00 50.0 1100.0 N C C C 0.00 0.001 1.00 N C C C 0.00 0.001 1.00 N C C C 0.00 0.001 1.00 N C C C 0.00 0.001 1.0 N C C C 0.00 0.011 1.0 N	0	0	۲	0	10.0	15.0	20.0	N
Fix MAP Mmmum value Intervalue value Modimum value Prior tit3. denomination C C C 0.0 100.0 200.0 entropy C C C 0.0 100.0 200.0 entropy C C C 0.00 2.0 5.0 entropy C C C 0.00 50.0 100.0 entropy C C C 0.00 6.00 100.0 entropy C C C 0.00 0.01 1.0 entropy C C C 0.00 0.01 1.0 entropy C C C 0.00 0.01 1.0 entropy	D	0	۲	0	20.0	25.0	30.0	h
Fix ML MAP Minimum value Initial value Macimum value Prior titil. dire C C C 0.0 0.00 100.0 200.0 Initial value C C C 0.00 0.00 100.0 200.0 Initial value Initial value<	rameters							
Image: Control		Eiv	м	MAD	Mining an unit of	lotiol usius	Mexico en colo e	Drive etcl. day
C C C 00 10 20 10 C C C 00 50 100 10 C C C 00 500 100 10 C C 00 00 00 10 10 C C C 00 000 10 10 C C C 00 000 10 10		C	()	C	0.0	100.0	200.0	Phot atu, det
C C C 000 200 500 1000 C C C 000 000 000 100 C C C 000 000 10 10 C C C 000 000 10 10 C C C 000 000 10 10		c		C	0.0	1.0	200.0	
C C C 0.0 \$0.0 \$1000 C C C 0.0 0.5 \$1.0 \$1.0 C C C 0.0 0.01 \$1.0 \$1.0 C C C 0.0 0.01 \$1.0 \$1.0 C C C 0.0 0.01 \$1.0 \$1.0		c		c	0.0	2.0	5.0	1
		C	œ	C	0.0	\$0.0	100.0	1
c c c 00 001 10 1 c c c 00 001 10 1 c c c 00 001 10 1		с	•	с	0.0	0.5	1.0	1
	11	0	æ	C	0.0	0.01	1.0	1
	22	C	œ	С	0.0	0.01	1.0	h
		0	œ	0	0.0	0.01	1.0	1
		0	۲	0	0.0	0.01	1.0	

Figure A.5. GUI when estimation methods have been specified.

Specification of Data for Estimation		×
Look in: ExampleLTI E 😭 📷 🕮	Data Files C:ICTSM23tdocumentation/Examples/ExampleLTNitidata.csv Add Remove Remove All	
File name: Bideta.csv Files of type: CSV files (*.csv)	OK Sample Time Input Interpolation Concel C Constant C Zero order hold Cancel C Varying C First order hold	

Figure A.6. The Specification of Data for Estimation dialog.

A.3.3 Monitoring computation progress

When the computation has commenced, the GUI appears as in Figure A.7, and we can monitor the progress of the computation as shown in Section 3.3.3.

He Edit Compute Settings Model Help	Stop
Image: Second Comparing Image: Second Comparing Status Status Estimating or emetters 0 Objective function versulations: 1 Gradeet approximation method Cantinal difference Objective function versulations: 1 Trace of programmeter estimates Tennel (Second Comparing) Trace of programmeter estimates 1 Trace of programmeterestimates 1	369
Statute Computing Statute Estimating parameters Trace of optimisation Estimation tendions: 0 Objective function evaluations: 1 Gradient approximation method Central difference Objective function: -0.3300368(3881/25154:643) Trace of parameter estimates 1 Trace of parameter estimates 1 10 1.5000E-01 61 1.000E-02	
Status Estimating parameters Trace of optimisation terrations: 0 Objective function evaluations: 1 Oradient approximation method: Central difference Oesterve function Central difference Oesterve function 1 0	Stop
Estimating parameters Trace of optimisation Trace of optimisation 0 Extensions 0 Objective function evaluations: 1 Graderal approximation method: Central difference Objective function: -0.30000808/8121814-0 Table of parameter estimates - T10 1.5000E-01 T20 2.5000E-01 G1 1.0000E-02	569
Etimolog parameters Trace of optimisation terrations: 0 Objective function evaluations: 1 createrial approximation method: Certral difference Objective function: -0.33030860586125156-03 Trace of parameter estimates	Stop
Trace of optimisation terrations: 0 Objective function valuations: 1 Oradient approximation method: Central difference Objective function: -0.3930388588125156-40.3 Trace of parameter estimates 1 T10 1.500E-01. T20 2.500E-01. O1 1.000E-02.	
tentions: 0 Objective function evaluations: 1 Oradient approximation method Central difference Oradient approximation method 0.3930089808125154:04 Oradient approximation method 0.3930089808125154:04 Trace of parameter estimates 1 Trade of parameter estimates 1 120 1.5006-01 01 1.0005+02	
Objective function evaluations: 1 Gradent approximation method: Central difference Objective function: -0.300008048915198-00 Totaco of particular estimatos - T10 1.50006-01 T20 2.50006-01 01 1.00006-02	
Cendent approximation method Central difference Objective function: -0.39300865866129154403 Trace of parameter estimates - Tr0 1.50006-01 T20 2.50008-02 61 1.00005-02	
Objective function: -0.39303089639612519E+03 Trace of parameter estimates	
Trace of parameter estimates T10 1 5000E+01 T20 2 5000E+01 G1 1 0000E+02	
1100 1,5000E+01 120 2,500E+01 61 1,000E+02	
110 1.3000+41 120 2.5000+01 61 1.0000+02	
120 2.5000E+01 G1 1.0000E+02	
G1 1.0000E+02	
H1 1.0000E+00	
H2 2.0000E+00	
G2 5.0000E+01	
H3 5,000E-01	
sig11 1.0000E-02	
sig22 1.0000E-02	
19922 1.0008-02 S 1.0008-02	

Figure A.7. GUI when the computation has commenced.

A.3.4 Interpreting estimation results

Once the computation is complete, and the initial states and parameters have been succesfully estimated, the GUI appears as in Figure A.8 and we are ready to take a look at the results (see Section 3.3.4 for details about interpreting results). Inspecting the results of the estimation we have performed, there does not seem to be any particular need for changing optimisation settings or loosening any limits on the initial states or parameters to try to obtain more accurate results. Furthermore, comparing the Estimates with the true values listed in Table A.1, we see that they are in very good agreement.

A.4 Generating validation data

Having estimated the initial states and parameters, we have the possibility of generating validation data for performing residual analysis.

Value of objective function: Value of penalty function: Namber of terrations: Number of terrations: Number of terrations function e Initial States Fix.	ant o value ML	Hessia tions:	-6 23 1.89 n: -1.15	368626809871 943843162604 347502417650	7E+02 6E-03 6E+02 54 66							
Number of Berations: Number of objective function e Initial States Fix T10 C	voluc ML	tions:			54 66							
Initial States Fix T10 C	ML	MAD										
Fix T10 C	ML	MOD										
T10 C		MAE	Min. value	Initial value	Max. value	Pr. std. dev.	Estimate	Std. dev.	t-score	p(>排)	dF/dPar	dPen/dPar
	6	0	10.0	15.0	20.0	N/A	1.3134E+01	3.3957E-01	38.6794	0.0000	-0.0001	-0.000
r20 C	6	0	20.0	25.0	30.0	N/A	2.5330E+01	2.0289E-02	1248.4600	0.0000	-0.0006	0.001
Parameters												
Fix	ML	MAP	Min. value	Initial value	Max. value	Pr. std. dev.	Estimate	Std. dev.	t-score	p(>(t)	dF/dPar	dPen/dPar
of C	œ	С	0.0	100.0	200.0	N/A	1.0394E+02	4.4870E+00	23.1656	0.0000	-0.0000	0.000;
н С	æ	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N/A	9.6509E-01	6.0464E-02	15.9614	9614 0.0000 0.0	0.0000	0.000
н2 С	6	C	0.0	2.0	5.0	N/A	2.0215E+00	6.2766E-02	32.2061	0.0000	0.0000	0.000
G2 C	æ	C	0.0	50.0	100.0	N/A	4.9320E+01	2.3270E-01	211.9462	0.0000	0.0000	0.000
нз С	œ	C	0.0	0.5	1.0	N/A	5.0929E-01	4.7566E-04	1070.7067	0.0000	-0.0006	0.000
sig11 C	F	C	0.0	0.01	1.0	N/A	7.3779E-08	1.1848E-05	0.0062	0.9950	0.0000	0.0001
sig22 C	œ	C	0.0	0.01	1.0	N/A	2.6951E-09	4.9964E-07	0.0054	0.9957	-0.0000	0.000
s C	6	C	0.0	0.01	1.0	N/A	1.0330E-02	6.0032E-04	17.2075	0.0000	-0.0000	0.0001

Figure A.8. GUI when the initial states and parameters have been estimated.

A.4.1 Generating pure simulation data

To demonstrate how to generate pure simulation data, we select the Generate pure simulation data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears (see Figure A.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file ltidatawind.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that, press OK, and computation starts.

A.4.2 Generating prediction data

To demonstrate how to generate prediction data, we select the Generate prediction data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears (see Figure A.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file ltidatawind.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that, press OK, and computation starts.

A.4.3 Generating filtering data

To demonstrate how to generate filtering data, we select the Generate filtering data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears

Specification of	Data for Validation	X
Look in:	ExampleLTI	Sample Time C Constant Varying Input Interpolation C Zero order hold First order hold
File name:	Itidatawind.csv OK]
Files of type:	CSV files (*.csv)]

Figure A.9. The Specification of Data for Validation dialog.

(see Figure A.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file ltidatawind.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that, press OK, and computation starts.

A.5 Saving the model

We now want to finish working with the model, but before we do that, we would like to save it, so we can use it later on. We do that by selecting the Save model action, which allows us to specify an output file for saving the model.

We save the model in the file lti.ctsm, and if we want to work with it again, we can re-open it by selecting the Open model action.

Example: NL model of a fed-batch bioreactor

This appendix provides an example of using **CTSM** for estimating parameters in an NL model of a fed-batch bioreactor. The model file generated in this example and the two data files used can be found in a subdirectory of the documentation directory (a subdirectory of the main directory CTSM23). The files are also available for download on the program homepage:

http://www.imm.dtu.dk/ctsm

B.1 Model equations

Imagine that we want to estimate the parameters in a simple model of a fedbatch bioreactor. The system equation of the model is:

$$d\begin{pmatrix} X\\S\\V \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu(S)X - \frac{FX}{V}\\ -\frac{\mu(S)X}{Y} + \frac{F(S_F - S)}{V}\\F \end{pmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{11} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \sigma_{22} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_{33} \end{bmatrix} d\omega_t$$
(B.1)

where the states X, S and V are the biomass concentration, the substrate concentration and the volume, the input F is the feed flow rate, Y is a yield coefficient and S_F is the feed concentration. The growth rate $\mu(S)$ is:

$$\mu(S) = \mu_{\max} \frac{S}{K_2 S^2 + S + K_1} \tag{B.2}$$

where μ_{max} , K_1 and K_2 are kinetic parameters. The measurement equation is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{pmatrix}_k = \begin{pmatrix} X \\ S \\ V \end{pmatrix}_k + \boldsymbol{e}_k , \quad \boldsymbol{e}_k \in N(\boldsymbol{0}, \boldsymbol{S}) , \quad \boldsymbol{S} = \begin{bmatrix} S_{11} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & S_{22} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & S_{33} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.3)

where y_1 , y_2 and y_3 are outputs. The true parameter values used for generating the data we will be using for the estimation are given in Table B.1.

$\mu_{\rm max}$	K_1	K_2	Y	S_F	σ_{11}	σ_{22}	σ_{33}	S_{11}	S_{22}	S_{33}
1	0.03	0.5	0.5	10	0	0	0	0.01	0.001	0.01

Table B.1. True values of the parameters of the fed-batch bioreactor model.

B.2 Setting up the model

We begin our work by starting up **CTSM** (see Section 3.1).

B.2.1 Creating a new model

We then select the New model action, provide the appropriate information (i.e. that the model is nonlinear and has 1 input, 3 outputs and 3 states) in the New Model Specification dialog and press OK (see Figure B.1).

New Model Specification		X
Model type	Model dimensions	
C Linear Time Invariant (LTI)	Number of inputs	1
C. Lincon Time Vension (LTV)	Number of outputs	3
C Linear time varying (LTV)	Number of states	3
Nonlinear (NL)	Number of algebraic equations	1
	Cancel	

Figure B.1. The New Model Specification dialog with values assigned.

Note that we have also specified that we want to use 1 algebraic equation to avoid having to type in the expression for the growth rate $\mu(S)$ more than once.

B.2.2 Typing in the model equations

The GUI now appears as in Figure B.2 and we are ready to type in the model equations. After doing this, the GUI appears as in Figure B.3. Note that we have typed in the expression for the growth rate $\mu(S)$ on the right hand side of the algebraic equation and introduced the abbreviation mu on the left hand side. This abbreviation we have then used in place of $\mu(S)$ in the system equations of the model to reduce the amount of typing we have to do.

© CTSM - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled1	<u>_ ×</u>
Model Parameters	
Agetrac equilions \$ r \$ g(x,u,t,t) 1 \$ g(x,u,t,t)	
System equations	
$d = \frac{\theta \times 1}{2} = \frac{\theta \times 1}{3} = \frac{\theta \times 1}{2} = \frac{\theta \times 1}{3} = \frac{\theta \times 1}{3$	
Observation equations	
# Y # N(x,u),0) * 0 2 - - - - - - 0 3 - - - - - - 0	
C Other specifications	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	

Figure B.2. GUI when the new model has been created.

File Edit Compute Settings Model Model Image: Setting in the set of		CTSM - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled1
Ø Ø <thø< th=""> Ø <thø< th=""> <thø< th=""></thø<></thø<></thø<>		File Edit Compute Settings Model Help
Model Propriet Algebraic equations # r # summaries # f # summaries <th>a, 😰</th> <th>D 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 30 0→0 ²m₀²m₀²m₀²m₀</th>	a, 😰	D 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 30 0→0 ² m ₀ ² m ₀ ² m ₀ ² m ₀
Algebraic equations $\begin{array}{c} s \\ t \\ \hline 1 \\ mun \end{array} = \begin{array}{c} s \\ s \\ \hline 1 \\ mun \\ s \\ $		Model Parameters
$\frac{x}{1} \frac{r}{1} = \frac{x}{1} \frac{y}{1} $		Algebraic equations
System equations	907.501.50 22-5-H1)	$\frac{\textbf{\textit{s}}}{1} \frac{\textbf{\textit{r}}}{\textbf{\textit{mu}}} = \frac{\textbf{\textit{s}}}{1} \frac{\textbf{\textit{mumar}}(\textbf{\textit{s}})(2)}{\textbf{\textit{s}}}$
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		System equations
	$\begin{array}{c c} t(r,x,\mu),\theta) \\ \hline \\ $	$d \begin{array}{c} \theta \\ \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{3} \\ \frac{1}{V} \end{array} = \begin{array}{c} \theta \\ \frac{1}{1} \\ \frac{1}{m^{2/2}} \\ \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2$
These states -		Observation equations
$\begin{array}{c} \hline \textbf{f} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{1} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{2} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{2} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{3} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{3} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{3} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} \hline \textbf{f} & \textbf{h} \\ \hline \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{2} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{2} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{3} & \textbf{y} \\ \hline \textbf{y} \hline y$	167 x.u.j.0) • • •	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{I} \textbf{Y} \\ \frac{\textbf{I}}{2} \textbf{Y} \\ \frac{1}{2} \textbf{Y} \\ \frac{1}{3} \textbf{Y} \\ \frac{1}{3} \textbf{Y} \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} \textbf{I} \textbf{I} \\ \frac{1}{3} \textbf{Y} \\ \frac{1}{3} \textbf{Y} \\ \frac{1}{3} \textbf{Y} \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Other specifications} \\ \hline \textbf{s} & \textbf{u} \\ \hline \textbf{1} & \textbf{p} \\ \hline \textbf{r} \\ \end{array} , \textbf{e} \text{ is } \mathbb{N}(0.5) , \textbf{S} = \begin{array}{c} \hline \frac{\mathbb{S}(u)f(t)}{1} & 1 & 2 & 3 \\ \hline \textbf{1} & 111 & 2 & -2 \\ \hline \textbf{2} & -2 & -2 & -2 \\ \hline \textbf{2} & -2 & -2 & -2 \\ \hline \textbf{3} & -2 & -2 $	e is N(0,5) , S = $\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Cther specifications

Figure B.3. GUI when the model equations have been typed in.

B.2.3 Analyzing the model equations

We are now ready to let **CTSM**'s interpreter analyze the model equations, so we select the Analyze model action. When analyzing the model equations the interpreter first checks for compliance with the rules for typing in model equations (see Section 3.2.2) and then determines the symbolic names of the parameters of the model, which are then displayed along with the symbolic names of the initial states under the Parameters tab as in Figure B.4.

Well Obstance							
nual states							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
0		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/6
30		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	NA
/0		0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
Parameters							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
numax	œ	C	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
2		С	C	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
a	•	C	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
/	•	С	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
F	۲	0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N.
ig11	C	С	C	N/A	0.0	N/A	N.
lg22	•	C	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
ig33	C	С	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N.
d1	•	0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
22	œ	0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	N
33	•	0	0	N/A	0.0	N/A	NJ

Figure B.4. GUI when the model has been analyzed.

As expected, CTSM finds 3 initial states and 11 parameters in the model.

B.3 Estimating parameters

We are now ready to set up an estimation problem.

B.3.1 Specifying estimation method

To set up an estimation problem, we have to specify an estimation method for each of the initial states and parameters (see Section 3.3.1). After we have finished doing this, the GUI appears as in Figure B.5.

CTSM - Continuous Time Stochastic Modelling - Untitled1							
le Edit Compute Settings Model Help							
) 🖆 🚰 🔜 🚎 🛱 🍰 🏯 🏯 🏹 500 0++6 ((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((
todel Parameters							
Initial States							
	Fix	ML	MAP	Minimum value	Initial value	Maximum value	Prior std. dev.
xo	0	œ	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N/A
S0	0	œ	0	0.0	0.25	1.0	N/2
VD	0	œ	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N/2
Parameters							
	Ew	ы	MAD	Minimum and and	ložiel ruskus	Maximum such as	Drive and slow
NU BAAV	C C	(RL	C	An international Value	nue value	20	Phonistal dev.
K2		C	C	N/A	0.5	N/A	NG
K1	0		0	0.0	0.03	1.0	NI
Y	•	0	c	N/A	0.05	N/A	NU
SF		c	0	N/A	10.0	N/A	N
sici1	0	•	C	0.0	0.01	1.0	N
siq22	0	œ	0	0.0	0.01	1.0	NA
- sig33	0	œ	C	0.0	0.01	1.0	NO
\$11	0	œ	0	0.0	0.1	1.0	NA
\$22	0	œ	0	0.0	0.1	1.0	NC
\$33	С	œ	0	0.0	0.1	1.0	NO

Figure B.5. GUI when estimation methods have been specified.

B.3.2 Specifying estimation data

We are now ready to start the estimation, so we select the Estimate parameters action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Estimation appears (see Figure B.6), and we can select the data file(s), we want to use for the estimation.

Specification of	Data for Estimation					×
Look in:	CampleNL		Add Remove Remove All	C1CTSM231documentation/Examples	s/ExampleNLlade0_1 csv	
File name: Files of type:	sde0_1.csv CSV files (*.csv)	×	OK Cancel	Sample Time Constant C Varying	Input Interpolation © Zero order hold © First order hold	

Figure B.6. The Specification of Data for Estimation dialog.

Apart from specifying data file(s), we must provide some additional information for the program as shown in Section 3.3.2. We only want to use the data file sde0_1.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that and press OK, and the computation starts.

B.3.3 Monitoring computation progress

When the computation has commenced, the GUI appears as in Figure B.7, and we can monitor the progress of the computation as shown in Section 3.3.3.

CTSM - Continuous Time Stoch	astic Modelling - Untitled1	<u>_10</u>
e Edit Compute Settings Mor	iel Help	
) 🚅 🖆 🔳 🛎 🎬 🛎 🛎	<u>2</u> 2 2 × 3180 0→6 2m, 2ma 2m 2m, 20	
odel Parameters Computing		
Status		
Estimating parameters		Stop
Trace of optimisation		
terations:	0	
Objective function evaluations:	1	
Gradient approximation method:	Central difference	
Objective function:	-0.5915981014934285E+02	
Trace of narameter estimates		
NU 50	1.0000E-00	
30 V0	1.00005+00	
mumax	1.00000-00	
KI	3.0000E-02	
sig11	1.0000E-02	
sig22	1.0000E-02	
sig33	1.0000E-02	
s11	1.0000E-01	
\$22	1.0000E-01	

Figure B.7. GUI when the computation has commenced.

B.3.4 Interpreting estimation results

Once the computation is complete, and the initial states and parameters have been succesfully estimated, the GUI appears as in Figure B.8 and we are ready to take a look at the results (see Section 3.3.4 for details about interpreting results). Inspecting the results of the estimation we have performed, there does not seem to be any particular need for changing optimisation settings or loosening any limits on the initial states or parameters to try to obtain more accurate results. Furthermore, comparing the Estimates with the true values listed in Table B.1, we see that they are in very good agreement.

B.4 Generating validation data

Having estimated the initial states and parameters, we have the possibility of generating validation data for performing residual analysis.

ptimisation Results alue of objective fu alue of penalty fund sgative logarithm of	nction: tion:														
alue of objective fu alue of penalty func egative logarithm of	nction: tion:														
	determi	nont	of Hessiar	-3.8 3.3 x -1.8	948567538343828 985001090874421 997687485984268	+02 -04 +02									
umber of iterations: umber of objective t	lunction	evak	uations:			50 71									
tial States															
	Fix	ML	MAP	Min. value	Initial value	Max. value	Pr. std. dev	E	stimate	Std. dev.	t-scor	e	p(>#)	dF/dPar	dPen/dPar
0	C	(+	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N	A 1.0	095E+00	1.0282E-02	98.1	886	0.0000	0.0002	0.0002
)	C	6	0	0.0	0.25	1.0	N	A 23	3835E-01	8.9163E-03	26.7	317	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
0	0	G	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N	A 1.0	040E+00	6.3064E-03	159.1	950	0.0000	-0.0000	0.0002
arameters															
	Fix	ML	MAP	Min. value	Initial value	Max. value	Pr. std. dev	E	stimate	Std. dev.	t-scor	e	p(>#))	dF/dPar	dPen/dPar
umax	C	æ	0	0.0	1.0	2.0	N	A 1.0	022E+00	3.3419E-03	299.9	1010	0.0000	0.0011	0.000
2	6	C	0	N/A	0.5	N/A	N	A	0.5	N/A		N/A	N/A	N/A	NØ
1	C	æ	0	0.0	0.03	1.0	N	A 3.	1629E-02	1.5977E-03	19.7	966	0.0000	-0.0001	0.0000
		C	0	N/A	0.5	N/A	N	A	0.5	NA		N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
=	æ	C	0	N/A	10.0	N/A	N	A 🗌	10.0	NG		N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
g11	C	æ	0	0.0	0.01	1.0	N	A 91	3704E-28	1.6214E-26	0.0	1596	0.9525	-0.0000	-0.0000
g22	C	œ	0	0.0	0.01	1.0	N	A 13	7471E-06	4.2576E-06	0.4	104	0.6818	0.0000	0.000
g33	C	6	0	0.0	0.01	1.0	N	A 1.	0903E-08	4.1507E-08	0.2	627	0.7930	-0.0000	0.0000
11	C	G	0	0.0	0.1	1.0	N	A 73	5248E-03	9.7618E-04	7.7	084	0.0000	-0.0000	0.0000
22	C	G	C	0.0	0.1	1.0	N	A 1.	0636E-03	1.3763E-04	7.7	279	0.0000	0.0000	0.000
33	C	G	0	0.0	0.1	1.0	N	A 1:	1388E-02	1.4960E-03	7.6	125	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
orrelation Matrix															
		Ē				1 1		1		Cons. [
		-	R	X0	S0 V0	mumax	K1	sig11	sig22	sig33	\$11	\$22	\$33		
		-	SO	0.3982	0.3862 0.465	2 -0.1021	0.6018	0.0244	0.1732	0.0438	0.0073	0.0485	-0.0114		
		t	VO	0.4658	0.3482	1 0.0705	0.6257	-0.0224	0.0270	-0.0273	0.0170	0.0640	0.0100		
		-	V0 mumax	0.4658	0.3482	1 0.0705 5 1	0.6257	-0.0224	0.0270	-0.0273 -0.3191	0.0170	0.0640	0.0100		

Figure B.8. GUI when the initial states and parameters have been estimated.

B.4.1 Generating pure simulation data

To demonstrate how to generate pure simulation data, we select the Generate pure simulation data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears (see Figure B.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file sde0_2.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that and press OK, and computation starts.

B.4.2 Generating prediction data

To demonstrate how to generate prediction data, we select the Generate prediction data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears (see Figure B.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file sde0_2.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that and press OK, and computation starts.

B.4.3 Generating filtering data

To demonstrate how to generate filtering data, we select the Generate filtering data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears (see

Specification of	Data for Validation	×
Look in:	ExampleNL E	Sample Time Constant Varying Input Interpolation Zero order hold First order hold
, File name: Files of type:	sde0_2.csv OK CSV files (*.csv) Cancel	

Figure B.9. The Specification of Data for Validation dialog.

Figure B.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file sde0_2.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that and press OK, and computation starts.

B.4.4 Generating smoothing data

To demonstrate how to generate smoothing data, we select the Generate smoothing data action and the dialog for Specification of Data for Validation appears (see Figure B.9), and we can select the data file, we want to use (see Section 3.3.2 for details about specifying a data file). We want to use the data file sde0_2.csv with Constant sample time and Zero order hold interpolation between inputs, so we specify that and press OK, and computation starts.

B.5 Saving the model

We now want to finish working with the model, but before we do that, we would like to save it, so we can use it later on. We do that by selecting the Save model action, which allows us to specify an output file for saving the model.

We save the model in the file nl.ctsm, and if we want to work with it again, we can re-open it by selecting the Open model action.

References

- Jacobsen, J. L. and Madsen, H. (1996). Grey Box Modelling of Oxygen Levels in a Small Stream. *Environmetrics*, 7(1), 109–121.
- Kristensen, N. R. (2002). Fed-Batch Process Modelling for State Estimation and Optimal Control - A Stochastic Grey-Box Modelling Framework. Ph.D. thesis, Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby, Denmark.
- Madsen, H. and Holst, J. (1995). Estimation of Continuous-Time Models for the Heat Dynamics of a Building. *Energy and Buildings*, 22, 67–79.
- Madsen, H. and Melgaard, H. (1991). The Mathematical and Numerical Methods Used in CTLSM. Technical Report 7, IMM, Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby, Denmark.
- Melgaard, H. and Madsen, H. (1993). CTLSM A Program for Parameter Estimation in Stochastic Differential Equations. Technical Report 1, IMM, Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby, Denmark.
- Tornøe, C. W. (2002). Grey-Box PK/PD Modelling of Insulin. Master's thesis, Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby, Denmark.